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LIST OF ACRONYMS 
 

ACC—Annual Contributions Contract 

FCAS—Formula Current Assisted Stock 

HUD—the United States Department of Housing and Urban Development 

NAHASDA—Native American Housing Assistance and Self Determination Act 

OIG—Office of Inspector General 

ONAP—Office of Native American Programs 

PPFUF—Plaintiffs’ Proposed Findings of Uncontroverted Fact 

TDHE—Tribally Designated Housing Entity 
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 Plaintiffs Lummi Tribe of the Lummi Reservation, Washington; Lummi Nation Housing 

Authority; Fort Berthold Housing Authority and Hopi Tribal Housing Authority (“Plaintiffs”), by 

their counsel, respectfully submit the following memorandum in support of Plaintiffs’ motion for 

partial summary judgment in accordance with RCFC 56.  In support of its motion, Plaintiffs rely 

upon the attached proposed findings of uncontroverted facts and the following brief. 

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES 
 
 This brief addresses the legal issues surrounding Count I of Plaintiffs’ Second Amended 

Complaint (“SAC”) (Dkt. #44).  Namely, the issues addressed herein are as follows: 

1. Whether Section 302(b)(1) of the Native American Housing Assistance and Self 

Determination Act (“NAHASDA”) (25 U.S.C. § 4152(b)(1)), prior to its amendment in 2008, 

precluded the United States Department of Housing and Urban Development (“HUD”) from 

reducing Plaintiffs’ annual Formula Current Assisted Stock (“FCAS”) funding based on the 

exclusion of dwelling units that plaintiffs owned or operated pursuant to  an Annual 

Contributions Contract (“ACC”) on September 30, 1997;  

 2. Whether HUD violated  NAHASDA By Excluding and Reducing Funding for dwelling 

units That  Were Not Actually Lost by Conveyance to a Third Party, Demolition or 

Otherwise; 

3. Whether HUD violated NAHASDA by excluding and reducing funding for dwelling 

units that were demolished and replaced; 

4. Whether HUD violated NAHASDA by reducing funding for dwelling units that were 

converted from homeownership to low rent after October 1, 1997. 
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BACKGROUND 

 The background is stated in the Court’s Opinion filed August 4, 2011 (Dkt #37) and will 

not be restated here.  

STATEMENT OF FACTS 

 The relevant facts are set forth at length in the accompanying Plaintiffs’ Proposed 

Findings of Uncontroverted Facts (“PPFUF”) and are incorporated herein by reference. 

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT  

 As set forth by Plaintiffs more fully below, HUD violated NAHASDA by unlawfully 

reducing the plaintiff's FCAS funding in the following respects: 

 First:  The plain and unambiguous language of 25 U.S.C. § 4152 (b) (1) prior to its 

amendment in 2008 prohibited HUD from excluding the 1937 Act dwelling units referenced 

in the statute from the funding formula. The 2008 amendment to § 4152 (b) (1) leaves no 

doubt that 24 C.F.R. § 1000.318(a) was inconsistent with the congressional mandate under 

the law as it existed through fiscal year 2008.  This court must apply the plain language of the 

statute literally, even if it believes the language leads to questionable results. Prior to its 

amendment, § 4152 (b) (1) required HUD to include all of the plaintiffs’ 1937 Act dwelling units 

owned and operated as of September 30, 1998 without exception. The district court read the 

statute literally in Fort Peck I, finding that the plain language of the statute precluded HUD from 

categorically excluding 1937 Act units from the funding formula.  Fort Peck Housing Authority 

v. HUD, 435 F.Supp.2d 1125, 1132 (D. Colo. 2006) (“Fort Peck I”). Although the Tenth Circuit, 

in Fort Peck Hous. Auth. v. U.S. Dept. of Hous. & Urban Dev., 367 F. App'x 884 (10th Cir. 

2010)(unpublished) (“Fort Peck II”), held that the statute allowed room for HUD to exclude 
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dwelling units that were no longer owned by the TDHE, the decision is unpublished and is 

neither binding nor persuasive. Moreover, the Tenth Circuit panel explicitly excluded from its 

consideration the effect of the 2008 Reauthorization Act upon the issues before it.  Id. at 885, n. 

1.  Thus, with respect to the 2008 Reauthorization Act, the Tenth Circuit's unpublished decision 

does not address: (a) the fact that Congress made substantive changes to NAHASDA's formula 

allocation provision which incorporate much of § 1000.318(a); (b) HUD's testimony before 

Congress prior to enactment of the 2008 Reauthorization Act urging that the then-proposed 

amendment "would change the way that housing units in management are counted for formula 

purposes" by not "counting units for [Formula Current Assisted Stock] purposes in the year after 

they are conveyed, demolished or disposed of"; and (c) the fact that Congress expressly declined 

to apply the amendment retroactively to TDHEs, as evidenced by the civil action provision that 

made the amendment inapplicable to TDHEs that filed a civil action within forty-five (45) days 

of the 2008 Reauthorization Act's effective date, thus allowing this federal litigation to proceed 

under the pre-amendment version of § 4152 (b) (1).  Applying pertinent rules of statutory 

construction, these aspects of the 2008 Reauthorization Act, which remain unaddressed, confirm 

that 24 C.F.R. § 1000.318(a) is invalid because it violates the pre-amendment version of 

NAHASDA's formula allocation provision, 25 U.S.C. § 4152(b) (1). 

 Second: Assuming, arguendo, that the pre-amendment version of § 4152 (b) (1) can 

be interpreted to exclude dwelling units that were no longer owned and operated by the 

plaintiffs, HUD’s exclusion of certain homeownership units that the plaintiffs’ continued to 

own and operate violated NAHASDA’s funding mandate. Even to the extent that Fort Peck 

II can be read as reflecting a persuasive interpretation of the law, its holding concerning 24 

C.F.R. § 1000.318(a) did not address HUD's treatment of units that continue to be owned 
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by a TDHE. Under 25 U.S.C. §§ 4151 and 4152 (b) these units must be included in the 

calculation of FCAS. Fort Peck II dealt only with the exclusion of units which are no longer 

owned or operated by a TDHE.  The Tenth Circuit's decision dealt with conveyed or lost units 

under § 1000.318 and did not address the distinction between units that had been conveyed and 

units still owned and operated by a TDHE in the pertinent grant year.  As recognized in the 

Office of Native American Programs (“ONAP's”) response to the Office of the Inspector General 

(“OIG”) audit, there are many reasons why a TDHE may continue to own a unit past the original 

25 year contract term.  Units that are owned by a TDHE must be included in the calculation of 

FCAS.   

 Third: NAHASDA's congressionally mandated allocation formula laid out in section 

4152 mandates that HUD must allocate annual block grants based on factors that reflect 

the housing need of the Indian tribes. Under the principles set out in United Keetoowah Band 

of Cherokee Indians v. Department of Housing and Urban Development, 567 F.3d 1235 (10th 

Cir. 2009) ("Keetoowah"), units may not be excluded from the FCAS calculation unless the 

reason is related to the plaintiffs housing need as defined by § 4152 and as stated in Keetoowah.  

Nevertheless, HUD has: (1) excluded units from FCAS which Plaintiffs still own or operate and 

thus still need funding to maintain; (2) excluded units that were demolished and replaced despite 

the fact that the replaced units still need funding to maintain; and (3) reduced funding for low 

rent units that were converted from homeownership to low rent after a certain date, an arbitrary 

act that has no relationship to housing need; all in direct violation of § 4152(b).  Indeed, HUD's 

systematic exclusion of such units, even when it was impracticable for Plaintiffs to convey those 

units, violates 24 C.F.R. § 1000.318 itself. 
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ARGUMENT 

I.  HUD Violated the Pre-Amendment version of § 4152 (b) (1) by Categorically 
Excluding 1937 Housing Act Dwelling Units Under the guise of 24 C.F.R. § 1000.318 
(a). 

 
The congressionally mandated funding formula laid out in 25 U.S.C. § 4152, in particular 

the FCAS funding factor laid out in subsection (b) (1), was squarely at issue in Fort Peck I and 

Fort Peck II. While this court is not bound by either decision, for the reasons that follow the 

plaintiffs respectfully submit that the district court's decision in Fort Peck I is persuasive and 

should be followed. 

 Prior to its amendment in 2008, the plain language of § 4152 (b) (1) mandated that the 

FCAS side of the funding formula include all of the dwelling units owned and operated by the 

plaintiffs under an ACC as of  the date HUD adopted the regulations described in § 4152 (a). The 

text of the statute prior to the amendment stated as follows: 

 
(a) Establishment. 
 
The Secretary shall, by regulations issued not later than the expiration of the 12-
month period beginning on October 26, 1996, in the manner provided under 
section 4116 of this title, establish a formula to provide for allocating amounts 
available for a fiscal year for block grants under this chapter among Indian tribes 
in accordance with the requirements of this section. 
 
(b) Factors for determination of need.  The formula shall be based on factors that 
reflect the need of the Indian tribes and the Indian areas of the tribes for assistance 
for affordable housing activities, including the following factors: 
 
    (1) The number of low-income housing dwelling units owned or operated at the 
time pursuant to a contract between an Indian  housing authority for the tribe and 
the Secretary. 
 
    (2) The extent of poverty and economic distress and the number of Indian 
families within Indian areas of the tribe. 
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    (3) Other objectively measurable conditions as the Secretary and the Indian 
tribes may specify. 
 

25 U.S.C. § 4152 (a)-(b) (2007) (emphasis added).1 

 The text of subsection (b) (1) is plain and unambiguous. It requires HUD to factor in the 

funding formula a definitive number of dwelling units in existence on a definitive date. Unlike 

the more general need-based factors laid out in subsections (b) (2) and (3), subsection (1) leaves 

no room for the exercise of agency discretion. As such, this court must apply the plain language 

of § 4152 (b) (1) literally in accordance with its text, without resort to perceived post hoc notions 

of legislative intent or deference to the Agency charged with the statutes implementation. In 

cases where the text of a statute is clear and explicit, the Supreme Court has admonished the 

judiciary and federal agencies to apply the statute in accordance with its plain text: 

 Our role is to interpret the language of the statute enacted by Congress. This statute does 
 not contain conflicting provisions or ambiguous language. Nor does it require a 
 narrowing construction or application of any other canon or interpretative tool. We have 
 stated time and again that courts must presume that a legislature says in a statute what it 
 means and means in a statute what it says there. When the words of a statute are 
 unambiguous, then, this first canon is also the last: 'judicial inquiry is complete.'" We will 
 not alter the text in order to satisfy the policy preferences of the [Agency]. These are 
 battles that should be fought among the political branches and the industry. Those parties 
 should not seek to amend the statute by appeal to the Judicial Branch.   
 
Barnhart v. Sigmon Coal Co., 534 U.S. 438, 461-462 (U.S. 2002) (emphasis added) (citations 
omitted). 

 The district court in Fort Peck I was faithful to this command, but the tenth circuit panel 

in Fort Peck II was not. Both the tenth circuit and the district court held that the language of 

section 4152(b) (1) was plain and ambiguous, in accord with Keetoowah, and yet both courts 

                                                            
1 Consistent with the deadline laid out in § 4152 (a), HUD interprets the phrase "owned and operated at the time" to 
be September 30, 1997. See 24 CFR § 1000.322. 
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reached opposite conclusions. The district court invalidated §1000.318 (a) based on a literal 

reading of the text of §4152 (b) (1), holding that the words “shall” and “the number” in 

subsection (b)(1) was a mandate that left no room for the exercise of discretion: 

 The text of the statute makes its meaning is clear. The use of that word “shall” limits the 
 agency’s discretion. Congress expressly directed that the first factor in determining a 
 tribe’s need for housing assistance is the number of dwelling units for which a tribe was 
 receiving federal assistance when NAHASDA went into effect. The use of the phrase 
 “the number” is definitive. The statute leaves no room for the formula to include some, 
 but not all of the number of dwelling units that a tribe owned or operated pursuant 
 to an ACC. 

 Fort Peck I, 435 F. Supp. 2d  at 1132; Accord,  Lexecon Inc. v. Milberg Weiss Bershad Hynes & 
Lerach, 523 U.S. 26, 35 (1998) (concluding that "the mandatory 'shall' . . . normally creates an 
obligation impervious to judicial discretion"); Hewitt v. Helms, 459 U.S. 460, 471(1983) (calling 
shall "language of an unmistakably mandatory character").  

 The tenth circuit panel, on the other hand, focused on the phrase “based on” in section 

4152(b), and concluded that this phrase, though admittedly ambiguous by itself, means that the 

factors described in subsections (1)-(3) “form the basis, beginning, or starting point, of the 

formula”. Fort Peck II, 367 Fed. Appx. At 890 . The tenth circuit reasoned that as long as HUD 

considered all of the dwelling units as a starting point, HUD could then backtrack and exclude 

units from the formula under the catch all subsection (b) (3), which allows HUD to consider 

“other objectively measurable conditions”. Fort Peck II, 367 Fed. Appx. at 891.  According to 

the court in Fort Peck II, an interpretation allowing HUD to exclude covered dwelling units from 

the formula was more in line with the overall intent of NAHASDA. Id. On the contrary, such an 

interpretation simply cannot stand in light of Barnhart and the Court’s other cases mandating 

that statutes be interpreted in accordance with their plain text, without regard to perceived 

notions of legislative intent. The tenth circuit’s interpretation is fundamentally flawed because it 

fails to recognize that Congress itself explicitly declared in subsection (b) (1) that an important 

part of a recipient’s need is reflected by the definitive number of dwelling units for which a tribe 
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was receiving federal assistance when NAHASDA went into effect, explicitly describing a 

definite number as of a definite date. The text of the statute allows for nothing less. There was no 

gap to fill, nothing for the agency to interpret.  

 This court should also disregard the decision in Fort Peck II because it violates another 

well settled rule of law. It is well-established that when Congress instructs an agency to consider 

specific factors in its implementation of a statute, the agency must consider those factors in full. 

Woodall v. Fed. Bureau of Prisons, 432 F.3d 235, 247 (3rd Cir. 2005); Wedelstedt v. Wiley, 477 

F.3d 1160 (10th Cir. 2007); Fults v. Sanders, 442 F.3d 1088, 1092 (8th Cir. 2006); Levine v. 

Apker, 455 F.3d 71, 81 (2nd Cir. 2006); and Rodriguez v. Smith, 541 F.3d 1180, 1187 (9th Cir. 

2008).  

 Prior to its amendment, Section 4152(b) (1) stated clearly that the block grant formula 

“shall be based on factors which reflect the need of the Indian tribes” for affordable housing, 

“including” three explicit factors. In Wedelstedt, the court interpreted a statute which mandated 

the Bureau of Prisons (“BOP”) to consider five enumerated factors in determining whether to 

transfer  an inmate to a correctional facility, and invalidated a BOP regulation that allowed the 

BOP to refuse to transfer certain inmates without considering the enumerated factors in full. 

Wedelstedt, 477 F.3d at 1164.  The Court followed the decisions of the second, third and eighth 

circuits that had reached the same conclusion, Woodall, Levine, and Fults. The Wedelstedt court 

adopted the more rigorous textual analysis of the statute’s language undertaken in Woodall and 

Levine. 477 F.3d at 1166.  Woodall held that the BOP could not “categorically refuse to consider 

in full one of the factors explicitly enumerated” in the statute.  Woodall, 432 F.3d at 247.  “[W]e 

are faced with a statute providing that the BOP must consider several factors in CCC placement, 

and a regulation providing that the agency may not consider those factors in full. The conflict 
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between the regulation and the statute seems unavoidable.” Id. at 249; accord, Wedelstedt, 477 

F.3d. at 1164. The court in Levine noted that, while the agency had discretion to consider factors 

for placing or transferring prisoners, Congress was “not silent on the criteria for placing a 

prisoner.” Levine, 455 F.3d at 81. The court held that the agency was required to consider these 

factors in all placement or transfer decisions, and could not categorically exclude some prisoners 

from consideration of all five factors: 

What agencies may not do, however, is edit a statute. Categorical rulemaking, like 
all forms of agency regulation, must be consistent with unambiguous 
Congressional instructions. And, an agency may not promulgate categorical rules 
that do not take account of the categories that are made significant by Congress. 
… The BOP is not empowered to implement selectively the instructions given by 
§ 3621(b), by picking and choosing those factors that it deems most compelling.  
   

Levine, 455 F.3d at 85, (emphasis added); accord, Landstar Express Am., Inc. v. FMC, 569 F.3d 
493, 498 (D.C. Cir. 2009) (rejecting the argument that the plain reading of a statute’s text 
undermines its purpose, and noting that “neither courts nor federal agencies can rewrite a 
statute’s plain text to correspond to its supposed purposes” ).  

 The court in Levine also rejected the agency’s assertion that it considered all five of the 

congressionally mandated factors when it initially promulgated the regulation categorically 

excluding some of the factors for some inmates. Id. at 85, n9; accord, Wedelstedt, 477 F.3d at 

1168; See Fults, 442 F.3d at 1092 (“It is impossible for the BOP to consider all five factors on a 

categorical basis”). These holdings, as well, conflict with the decision in Fort Peck II, that the 

mandatory dwelling unit number in § 4152 (b) (1) is a mere starting point 367 Fed. Appx. 884, 

890. 

 The statutory command in §4152(b) was even more explicit than the statute at issue in the 

Woodall line of cases. According to Keetoowah, “[s]ection 4152(b) states that the formula must 

be based on "factors that reflect the need of the Indian tribes and the Indian areas of the tribes for 

assistance for affordable housing activities, including three specific factors.”  567 F.3d at 1242 
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(emphasis added). Keetoowah also held that “subsection (b) (3) is simply one of the need-based 

factors that Congress explicitly specified.” Id.  Wedelstedt held that the agency had to make 

placement decisions “with reference to each of the five factors enumerated” in the statute. 477 

F.3d at 1166 (emphasis added). Read together, these cases reject the Fort Peck II interpretation, 

one that would play one subsection off against another, or an interpretation of one subsection that 

would limit or supplant part of another, as the panel decision did in Fort Peck II, 367 Fed. Appx. 

at 891. To do so is inconsistent with the analysis in Keetoowah and Wedelstedt. 

 Reduced to its essence, Fort Peck II laid aside the plain text of § 4152 (b) (1) in favor of 

an interpretation favored by HUD, one that the court felt was more in line with the intent of 

Congress. Such an interpretation cannot stand in light of Barnhart and the Supreme Court’s other 

decisions. See, eg,  FDA v. Brown & Williamson Tobacco Corp., 529 U.S. 120, 125 (2000) 

("Regardless of how serious the problem an administrative agency seeks to address, however, it 

may not exercise its authority 'in a manner that is inconsistent with the administrative structure 

that Congress enacted into law." (quoting ETSI Pipeline Project v. Missouri, 484 U.S. 495, 517 

(1988)); Koshland v. Helvering, 298 U.S. 441, 447 (U.S. 1936) (“where, as in this case, the 

provisions of the act are unambiguous, and its directions specific, there is no power to amend it 

by regulation”);  14 Penn Plaza LLC v. Pyett, 129 S. Ct. 1456, 1472 (U.S. 2009);   United States 

v. Gonzales, 520 U.S. 1, 6, 10 (U.S. 1997); Mansell v. Mansell, 490 U.S. 581, 594 (U.S. 1989). 

The Fort Peck II decision conflicts with these fundamental principles by failing to adhere to the 

plain text of subsection (b) (1) and by failing to recognize that when Congress explicitly defines 

a factor in a funding formula, that factor must be applied without exception or limitation.   

 Fort Peck II’s use of the phrase “based on” in § 4152 (a) to circumvent the literal text of 

subsection (b) (1) does not survive serious scrutiny. The court relied on the D.C. circuit’s 
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decision in Sierra Club v. EPA, 356 F.3d 296, 306 (D.C. Cir. 2004) to support its conclusion. 

However, other D.C. circuit cases undermine Fort Peck II’s analysis when the phrase “based on” 

is read in context.  First, the court in Sierra Club acknowledged that the phrase “based on”, by 

itself, is ambiguous. Id. But the tenth circuit acknowledged, as it must, that § 4152, when read in 

context, is unambiguous. Fort Peck II, 367 Fed. Appx. 884, 890-91; Accord, Keetoowah, 567 

F.3d at 1240-1242. Fort Peck II’s focus on the ambiguous term “based on” is narrowed by “the 

commonsense canon of noscitur a sociis —which counsels that a word is given more precise 

content by the neighboring words with which it is associated.”  United States v. Williams, 553 

U.S. 285, 294 (2008). Thus, when the term “based on” in §4152(a) is coupled with the definitive 

number stated in the text of subsection (b) (1), the phrase becomes unambiguous.  Notably, the 

D.C. circuit has qualified Sierra Club, consistent with this maxim. The D.C. circuit explained its 

decision in Sierra Club in Nuclear Energy Inst., Inc. v. EPA, 373 F.3d 1251 (D.C. Cir. 2004). 

The court there clarified that the phrase “based on” when used to describe a factor in a statute is 

ambiguous when it is not limited by a specific number. However, when the statute prescribes “a 

precise quota figure,” the meaning of the statute becomes plain. Id. at 1269, citing  Natural 

Resources Defense Council, Inc. v. Daley, 209 F.3d 747, 753-754 (D.C. Cir. 2000).  

 The failure of the court in Fort Peck II to read the phrase “based on” in its proper context 

also runs afoul of its own decision in Keetoowah. According to Keetoowah, “[s]ection 4152(b) 

states that the formula must be based on "factors that reflect the need of the Indian tribes and the 

Indian areas of the tribes for assistance for affordable housing activities, including three specific 

factors.” 567 F.3d at 1242 (emphasis added). Keetoowah noted that “subsection (b) (3) is simply 

one of the need-based factors that Congress explicitly specified.” Id.   
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 Moreover, Fort Peck II’s holding that the catch all factor in subsection (b) (3) authorized 

HUD to exclude some of the dwelling units prescribed in subsection (b) (1), despite its literal 

text, violates other important canons of statutory construction. “One of the most basic canons of 

statutory interpretation is that a more specific provision takes precedence over a more general 

one.”  United States v. Perry, 360 F.3d 519, 535 (6th Cir. 2004) (citing Green v. Bock Laundry 

Mach. Co., 490 U.S. 504, 524, (1989) and Radzanower v. Touche Ross & Co., 426 U.S. 148, 153 

(1976). Second, courts: 

are not at liberty to construe any statute so as to deny effect to any  part of its language. It 
is a cardinal rule of statutory construction that significance and effect shall, if possible, be 
accorded to every word. …a statute ought, upon the whole, to be so construed that, if it 
can be prevented, no clause, sentence, or word shall be superfluous, void, or insignificant. 

Perry, 360 F. 3d at 537, quoting Wash. Market Co. v. Hoffman, 101 U.S. 112, 115-16 (1879). 

 The court in Fort Peck II was concerned that allowing the dwelling units described in 

subsection (b) (1) to be funded “in perpetuity” even after the units have been conveyed or 

demolished, does not reflect need. 367 Fed. Appx. at 891. This concern, however, is not 

warranted and in any event is insufficient to disregard a congressional mandate under the 

analyses in Barnhart.  First, it cannot be disputed that dwelling units that are conveyed or 

demolished can be replaced with new units. Yet HUD’s Formula regulations do not account for 

this reality, but instead provide for a continual decrease in the dwelling unit factor mandated by 

section 4152 (b) (1) and expressly preclude the inclusion of newly constructed units as 

replacements in the formula.  24 C.F.R. §§ 1000.312, 1000.314, and 1000.322. This anomaly led 

the district court in Fort Peck I to conclude that § 1000.318 “has the perverse effect” of turning 

the number of dwelling units mandated as formula factors into an ever declining factor, with no 

regard for the fact that the number can remain at the 1997 number mandated by 4152(b)(1) when 
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units are built to replace the lost units. 435 F.Supp.2d at 1132.  HUD’s argument, which Fort 

Peck II accepted, that conveyed or lost units no longer reflect need and must therefore be 

eliminated as a formula factor, was not supported by the administrative record. More 

importantly, Congress specifically stated what the dwelling unit number to define Indian housing 

need would be in subsection (b) (1), and thereby defined for itself Indian housing need for this 

particular factor. Neither courts nor HUD can defy an explicit congressional description of 

housing need simply because they disagree that it reflects need. That is precisely what the Court 

prohibited in Barnhart. 

 Moreover, Fort Peck II failed to consider the fact that low income Indian families who 

become home owners or whose units become eligible for conveyance are in many cases still low 

income and in need of affordable housing assistance. As the district court noted, some 

homebuyers are behind in their payments at the expiration of the 25 year term, and others are 

simply not ready for homeownership when the unit becomes eligible for conveyance, in which 

case the unit may be converted to low rent and continue to be owned and operated by the FPHA. 

Fort Peck I, 435 F.Supp.2d at 1132-33.  Yet HUD insists that these units may not be counted, 

and in case of converted low rent units, not fully funded for formula purposes, under the guise of 

§1000.318. Further, HUD allows dwelling units that have been conveyed or are eligible for 

conveyance to be modernized and remodeled using NAHASDA funds. In many cases 

Homeownership units are in need of such assistance even after they have been conveyed, 

because in many cases they have become dilapidated due to the homebuyers inability to afford 

repair and maintenance costs. Even conveyed dwelling units remain eligible for housing 

assistance because there is a need to keep these units safe and habitable, even after they have 

reached the end of the 25 year term. See 25 U.S.C. § 4132 (1). There is no evidence to support 
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the notion that the dwelling units described in §4152(b) (1), and the families who occupy them 

somehow magically lose there need simply because the units were conveyed. On the contrary, 

HUD pushed this post hoc rationalization in an attempt to save the regulation in Fort Peck II, 

something that the tenth circuit should not have permitted. Burlington Truck Lines, Inc. v. United 

States, 371 U.S. 156, 168, (1962); ("the courts may not accept appellate counsel's post hoc 

rationalizations for agency action."); See, Hill v. Norton, 275 F.3d 98, 105 (D.C. Cir. 2001);  

GHS HMO, Inc. v. United States, 536 F.3d 1293, 1300 (Fed. Cir. 2008).   

 In the end, the Court’s decision in Barnhart requires courts to follow the plain text of an 

unambiguous statute, without regard to canons of interpretation or policy notions of what 

Congress really intended.   

II. The 2008 Reauthorization Act, Which the Tenth Circuit Expressly Declined to 
 Consider in Fort Peck II, Leaves no Doubt that 24 C.F.R. § 1000.318(a) was Invalid 
 Under the Law as it Existed Prior to the Amendment. 
 

The adoption of the 2008 Reauthorization Act amendments to § 4152 (b) (1) requires this 

Court to find that HUD has unlawfully deprived Plaintiffs of FCAS grant funding by excluding 

1937 Act dwelling units under an ACC as of September 30, 1997.  After the decision in Fort 

Peck I, HUD "developed a number of statutory amendments to NAHASDA" for Congress to 

consider during the NAHASDA reauthorization process and presented these changes to the 

relevant committees of Congress.  O. Cabrera Statement at 2 (PPFUF 34; App. 9); R. Boyd 

Statement at 2 (PPFUF 34; App. 10).  Included in the proposed amendments developed by HUD 

was an amendment to NAHASDA's formula allocation provision.  On June 6, 2007, Orlando 

Cabrera (of HUD) submitted a Statement to the House Subcommittee on Housing summarizing 

the proposed amendment to the formula allocation provision as follows: 
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An amendment to…the [Indian Housing Block Grant] Allocation Formula, would 
change the way that housing units are counted for formula purposes.  It would 
stop counting units for FCAS purposes in the year after they are conveyed, 
demolished or disposed of. 

 
O. Cabrera Statement at 2, 3.  (emphasis added).  See also R. Boyd Statement at 3. 

 As previously set forth, the 2008 Reauthorization Act as enacted had two particularly 

relevant provisions concerning the proper interpretation of 24 C.F.R. § 1000.318(a).  First, at 

HUD's urging, the Act amended the previous law governing the calculation of FCAS, so as to 

authorize HUD to exclude units in the year after they are "lost to the recipient by conveyance, 

demolition or other means" as provided by § 1000.318(a). 25 U.S.C. § 4152(b)(1)(A)(ii) (2012 

Supp).  Second, the Act provided that the relevant changes would not be applicable for any fiscal 

year through fiscal year 2008 as to tribes that filed an action challenging an FCAS reduction 

within 45 days of the passage of the  Act.  Id. at § 4152(b)(1)(E) (2012 Supp).    

 While the Fort Peck II court expressly noted the existence of the 2008 Reauthorization 

Act, the court made it explicit that it did not consider the impact of the 2008 Reauthorization 

Act, limiting its analysis to the 2002 version of NAHASDA.  367 Fed.Appx. at 885, n. 1.  Thus, 

with respect to the 2008 Reauthorization Act, Fort Peck II did not address:  

(a) the fact that Congress made substantive changes to NAHASDA's formula 
allocation provision which incorporate § 1000.318(a), the regulation found 
to be invalid in Fort Peck I;  

 
(b) the aforementioned HUD testimony before Congress prior to enactment of 

the 2008 Reauthorization Act admitting that the then-proposed 
amendment: "would change the way that housing units in management are 
counted for formula purposes" by not "counting units for FCAS purposes 
in the year after they are conveyed, demolished or disposed of"; or 

 
(c) the fact that Congress expressly declined to apply the amendment 

retroactively to TDHEs that filed a civil action within 45 days of the 2008 
Reauthorization Act's effective date,  authorizing federal litigation to be 
filed under the pre-amendment version of the formula allocation provision. 
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Applying pertinent rules of statutory construction, these aspects of the 2008 

Reauthorization Act, which remain unaddressed, confirm that 24 C.F.R. § 1000.318(a) is invalid 

because it violates the pre-amendment version of NAHASDA's formula allocation provision, 25 

U.S.C. § 4152(b), which requires that the FCAS portion of the NAHASDA funding formula, for 

each fiscal year through 2008, be based on the number of low-income housing dwelling units 

owned or operated pursuant to an Annual Contributions Contract as of September 30, 1997.   

 Beginning with an analysis of the language of the amendment to the formula allocation 

provision, it is clear the amendment constitutes a substantive and material change in the way that 

housing units are to be counted for FCAS purposes. The district court reached this conclusion   

on remand from Fort Peck II.  Fort Peck Hous. Auth. v. United States HUD, 2012 U.S. Dist. 

LEXIS 124049 *20 (D. Colo. Aug. 31, 2012) (Fort Peck III) (“The Reauthorization Act of 2008 

was a substantive change in the statutory framework. It cannot be read as a clarification of pre-

existing law and it cannot be given retroactive effect to these disputes”). Again, the pre-

amendment version of the provision included "[t]he number of low-income housing dwelling 

units owned or operated at the time [September 30, 1997] pursuant to a contract between an 

Indian housing authority for the tribe and the Secretary" as a mandatory FCAS factor.  25 U.S.C. 

§ 4152(b)(1).  Now, through the 2008 Reauthorization Act, the provision has been materially 

altered so that housing units are only counted for FCAS purposes if they "are owned or operated 

by a recipient on the October 1 of the calendar year immediately preceding the year for which 

funds are provided" and have not been "lost to the recipient by conveyance, demolition, or other 

means…".  25 U.S.C. § 4152 (b)(1)(A).  The amended provision incorporates the very regulatory 

provision found to be invalid by the Fort Peck I Court and thereby cures the invalid regulation 

prospectively.  See 24 C.F.R. § 1000.318(a).   
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 Looking simply at this statutory language, it is apparent that Congress made a substantive 

change in the way that housing units are counted for FCAS purposes.  It is well-established that 

"[w]hen Congress acts to amend a statute, [courts are to] 'presume it intends its amendment to 

have real and substantial effect.'"  Pierce County, Washington v. Guillen, 537 U.S. 129, 145 

(2003) (quoting Stone v. INS, 514 U.S. 386, 397 (1995)). If the amendment did not constitute a 

substantive change in the way that housing units are to be counted for FCAS purposes, then the 

amendment would have no "real and substantial effect."  If the formula allocation provision had 

not originally mandated the inclusion of 1997 units, the amendment would have been 

unnecessary.  Thus, the amendment confirms that, until the effective date of the amendment 

(2008), the formula allocation provision mandated the inclusion of units owned or operated as of 

September 30, 1997.  

 The context in which the amendment was passed further bolsters the conclusion that the 

pre-amendment provision required inclusion of units owned or operated as of September 30, 

1997.  Sutherland provides that "if the legislature adopts an amendment urged by a witness [at a 

committee hearing], it may be assumed that the intent voiced was adopted by the legislature." 2A 

Norman J. Singer, Sutherland Statutory Construction § 48.10 (7th ed.) (emphasis added).2  Here, 

there is no doubt that the amendment to the formula allocation provision was developed and 

proposed by HUD.  See O. Cabrera Statement at 2 (PPFUF 34; App. 9); R. Boyd Statement at 3 

                                                            
2  Citing United States v. Henning, 344 U.S. 66 (1952); Schwegmann Bros. v. Calvert Distillers 
Corp., 341 U.S. 384 (1951); United States v. American Trucking Ass'ns, 310 U.S. 534, 548 
(1940) ("[T]he Commission's interpretation gains much persuasiveness from the fact that it was 
the Commission which suggested the provisions' enactment to Congress."); Securities & 
Exchange Commission v. Robert Collier & Co., 76 F.2d 939 (C.C.A. 2d Cir. 1935) (witness was 
person chiefly responsible for the prosecution of the functions conferred by the bill); Bailey v. 
United States, 52 Fed. Cl. 105 (2002); In re Teligent, Inc., 268 B.R. 723, 38 Bankr. Ct. Dec. 
(CRR) 158 (Bankr. S.D.N.Y. 2001). 
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(PPFUF 34; App. 10).  On two separate occasions, HUD representatives gave statements before 

Congressional committees concerning the proposed amendment to the formula allocation 

provision.  Id.  On both occasions, HUD asserted the proposed amendment "would change" the 

law by no longer "counting units…in the year after they are conveyed, demolished or disposed 

of."  Id. (emphasis added).   

In developing and proposing the amendment, HUD plainly sought a change in 

NAHASDA's formula allocation provision that would bring it into conformity with the 

regulation found to be invalid by the Fort Peck I Court.  By inference, HUD acknowledged the 

irreconcilable conflict between the statutory formula allocation provision and § 1000.318.  

Ultimately, in passing the 2008 Reauthorization Act, Congress adopted the amendment 

substantially as proposed by HUD.  See PL 110-411, § 301.  Therefore, it must be assumed that 

the intent voiced by HUD--that the amendment "would change the way that housing units in 

management are counted for formula purposes" by not "counting units…in the year after they are 

conveyed, demolished or disposed of"--was adopted by Congress.  2A Sutherland, supra, at § 

48:10.3  

 Sutherland further provides that "[w]here a former statute is amended, or a doubtful 

meaning clarified by subsequent legislation, such amendment or subsequent legislation is strong 

evidence of the legislative intent of the first statute."  2B Sutherland, supra, at § 49:11.  "A 

                                                            
3  Recent statements from HUD representatives indicate that HUD has continued to characterize 
the amendment to the formula allocation provision as a change in the law. See, e.g., Letter from 
HUD to John Fredericks, February 16, 2011 at 3 (discussing the "change" in PL 110-411, § 301 
(A) through (D)), PPFUF 34; App. 11; HUD Letter, September 8, 2010 at 4-5 ("The amendments 
to [the formula allocation provision] in essence provide that units conveyed or eligible to be 
conveyed prior to October 1 of the calendar year immediately preceding the FY for which funds 
are provided are not eligible as FCAS… Since the [TDHE] has filed a civil suit, these 
amendments do not apply to your claims for any FY through FY 2008"), PPFUF 34; App. 12.   
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number of cases have held that where an act is amended or changed so that doubtful meaning is 

resolved such action constitutes evidence that the previous statute meant the contrary."  Id. 

(emphasis added).  "This theory is based on the fact that the legislature is not presumed to 

perform a useless act."  Id.  Furthermore, an "amended statute should be interpreted in light of 

the court decisions that may have prompted the amendment."  1A Sutherland, supra, at § 22:29.   

 The timing of HUD's development of the amendment to the formula allocation provision 

cannot be ignored.  The amendment was developed by HUD in close temporal proximity to this 

Court's decision in Fork Peck I.  As the amendment was clearly intended to change the existing 

law to bring it into conformity with § 1000.318, it is apparent that the amendment was developed 

in response to Fork Peck I.  In making this change, it is presumed that Congress did not perform 

a "useless act."  2B Sutherland at § 49:11.  Congress, by changing the statutory formula 

allocation provision to conform with § 1000.318(a), was addressing the exact regulatory 

infirmity at issue in Fork Peck I.  Congress was attempting to statutorily "fix" the problem as 

outlined in Fork Peck I.  This provides additional confirmation that the amendment plainly has a 

contrary meaning from that of the prior formula allocation provision at issue in the cases at bar.  

This can only mean that the pre-amendment formula allocation provision required FCAS to 

include the 1997 housing units.  

Additionally, by authorizing the filing of civil actions under the pre-amendment formula 

allocation provision (see 25 U.S.C. § 4152 (b)(1)(E) (2012 Supp)), Congress further 

demonstrated its intent.4  If the amendment constituted nothing but a clarification of existing law, 

there would be no need for the provision permitting Tribes to file suit under the pre-amendment 

formula allocation provision, as these Plaintiffs did.  This "civil action" provision would be yet 

                                                            
4 Subsection (E) was not included in HUD’s original proposed amendment. 
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another "useless act".  If the amendment was merely a clarification, there would be no use in 

distinguishing between the effect of the original statute and the amended statute in any manner.  

Instead, with the "civil action" provision, Congress made clear that TDHEs, such as these 

Plaintiffs, were to have the benefit of the pre-2008 Reauthorization Act language as to the 

historic operation of their programs.  This constitutes a Congressional acknowledgment that the 

formula allocation provision has been materially changed by the amendment.  

The Second Circuit faced analogous circumstances in Commissioner of Internal Revenue 

v. Callahan Realty Corp., 143 F.2d 214 (2nd Cir. 1944).  There, the United States Tax Court 

invalidated an IRS regulation that used the term "sale or exchange of stock or securities", while 

the pertinent section of the authorizing statute was limited to the "sale of stock or securities".  

143 F.2d at 215 (emphasis added).  Congress subsequently amended the authorizing statute to 

incorporate the regulation, but explicitly made the effective date prospective.  On appeal, the 

Commissioner continued to argue that the regulation was valid.  The Second Circuit rejected the 

Commissioner's argument, however, relying largely on Congress' decision to limit the effect of 

the amendment to a prospective time period: 

This limitation upon the effect of the amendment seems to us to show that it 
plainly was not made merely to clarify existing law.  Had the intent of Congress 
been only to state more clearly what the statute had meant from its original 
enactment, there would have been no point in limiting the effect of the 
restatement to the period following December 31, 1936.  We think such a 
limitation shows that it did realize that the amendment enlarged the scope of the 
original enactment and made sure that taxpayers would understand that it was not 
to be applied retroactively…. 
 
We think it now tips the scales in favor of the respondent and leads to the 
conclusion that the regulation was a broadening of the original statute involving 
legislation beyond the power of the treasury.  Until Congress itself amended the 
statute the regulation went beyond its scope and was invalid.  The decision of the 
Tax Court was therefore right.  
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Id. at 216 (emphasis added).5   

Federal Circuit precedent is in accord with the analysis in Callahan Realty.  See, e.g.,  

Teledyne, Inc. v. United States, 50 Fed. Cl. 155, 177 (Fed. Cl. 2001) aff'd sub nom. Allegheny 

Teledyne Inc. v. United States, 316 F.3d 1366 (Fed. Cir. 2003) (citing Newport News 

Shipbuilding & Dry Dock Co. v. Garrett, 6 F.3d 1547, 1564 (Fed. Cir. 1993) (“As the Federal 

Circuit has noted, the fact that an amendment is expressly made prospective leads to the 

conclusion that the amended language was not intended by the original enactment.”) .  By 

amending the formula allocation provision to incorporate § 1000.318(a), and permitting litigation 

to be filed under the pre-amendment version of the provision, Congress acknowledged that § 

1000.318(a) was a "broadening of the original statute involving legislation beyond the power of" 

HUD.  Callahan Realty, 143 F.2d at 216.6 

                                                            
5  The Callahan Realty Court so reasoned and held, despite the fact that the legislative history 
described the amendment as a clarification. See 143 F.2d at 216.  Here, the legislative history 
contains HUD's admission that the 2008 Reauthorization Act "changed" the law.  See text, p. 22, 
ante. 
 
6  The formula allocation provision should also be interpreted pursuant to the Indian Canons of 
Construction.  Under the Indian Canons of Construction, "statutes are to be construed liberally in 
favor of Indians, with ambiguous provisions interpreted to their benefit."  Montana v. Blackfeet 
Tribe of Indians, 471 U.S. 759, 766 (1985). See also South Carolina v. Catawba Indian Tribe, 
Inc, 476 U.S. 498, 506 (1986) ("[D]oubtful expressions of legislative intent must be resolved in 
favor of the Indians").  The Canons further provide "for a broad construction when the issue is 
whether Indian rights are reserved or established, and for a narrow construction when Indian 
rights are to be abrogated or limited."  Nat'l Labor Relations Bd. v. Pueblo of San Juan¸ 276 F.3d 
1186, 1194 (10th Cir. 2002) (citing Bryan v. Itasca County, Minnesota, 426 U.S. 373 (1976)).  
Additionally, the familiar "Chevron deference" that courts normally grant to a federal agency's 
interpretation of statutes it administers is applied with "muted effect" in cases involving Indians.  
See Cobell v. Salazar, 573 F.3d 808, 812 (D.C. Cir. 2009).  
 
       To the extent that the formula allocation provision is ambiguous, it should be interpreted to 
the benefit of Plaintiffs.  The term "based on" is prominently used in the formula allocation 
provision.  Under the provision, FCAS must be "based on" three statutory factors, including the 
number of housing units owned or operated at September 30, 1997 pursuant to an Annual 
Contributions Contract.  Fort Peck II declined to apply the Indian Canons of Construction, 
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 For the foregoing reasons, this Court should find and conclude that all FCAS units that 

were the subject of an Annual Contribution Contract between HUD and each Plaintiff as of 

September 30, 1997 must be included in each Plaintiff's FCAS for purposes of grant funding 

calculations, for all applicable fiscal years through fiscal year 2008.   

III. HUD Violated The Pre 2008 Version of NAHASDA and 24 C.F.R. § 1000.318 By 
 Excluding Dwelling Units That Were Not Actually Lost by Conveyance to a  Third 
 Party, Demolition or Otherwise and by Failing to Fully Fund  Low Rent Units that 
 were Converted from Homeownership to Low Rent.  	

   
 HUD improperly excluded FCAS and/or recaptured funding for FCAS that had not 

actually been lost by conveyance, demolition or otherwise in violation of NAHASDA § 41552 

(b) and 24 C.F.R. § 1000.318. HUD also violated NAHASDA’s need-based funding mandate as 

well as section 1000.318 (b) by failing to fully fund low rent units after they were converted 

from mutual help to low rent. 

A. Fort Peck II Did Not Decide the Issue Arising From Units Which a TDHE 
Continues to Own or Operate.   	

 
The Fort Peck II decision upheld 24 C.F.R. § 1000.318(a) to the extent it excluded 

dwelling units which a TDHE "no longer owned or operated".  367 Fed.Appx. at 891, 892.  

However, in many instances, HUD also deprived TDHEs of funding for units that a TDHE 

continued to own or operate.  Because the Tenth Circuit, in upholding 24 C.F.R. § 1000.318(a), 

repeatedly characterized the regulation as one which excluded dwelling units which a TDHE "no 

longer owned or operated", its holding did not, implicitly or otherwise, encompass units which a 

                                                                                                                                                                                                

finding the formula allocation provision to be unambiguous.  Fort Peck II, 367 Fed.Appx. at 892.  
However, again, the Court did not consider the impact of the 2008 Reauthorization Act.  In view 
of the 2008 Reauthorization Act analysis presented herein, the phrase "based on" should not be 
construed to permit HUD to categorically eliminate statutorily mandated 1997 housing units 
from FCAS in this manner. 
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TDHE continued to own or operate.  Cf. Kalodner v. Bodman, 205 F. App'x 833, 834 (Fed. Cir. 

2006) (“Law of the case is not established with respect to issues not actually decided by a 

court.”).    

Indeed, the Tenth Circuit did not even address dwelling units that a TDHE continued to 

own and operate.  Rather, the Tenth Circuit's repeated references to units which are "no longer 

owned and operated" excludes units which remain owned or operated from the regulation's scope 

under the maxims "Inclusio unius est exclusio alterius" (the inclusion of one is the exclusion of 

another), and "Expressio unius est exclusio alterius" (the express mention of one thing implies 

the exclusion of another thing not so mentioned).  See J. W. Bateson Co. v. U. S., 450 F.2d 896, 

902 (Ct. Cl. 1971); Ventas, Inc. v. United States, 381 F.3d 1156, 1161 (Fed. Cir. 2004). The 

district court in Fort Peck III held that Fort Peck II addressed only those dwelling units that were 

no longer owned or operated by Fort Peck Housing Authority, Fort Peck III, 2012 U.S. Dist. 

LEXIS 124049, *4-5, and went on to hold that HUD's actions in excluding from the funding 

formula dwelling units that the plaintiffs continue to own and operate violated NAHASDA. Id., 

at *13-17.  For the reasons that follow, the plaintiffs here submit that this court should align 

itself with Fort Peck III. 

B. NAHASDA Requires HUD to Fund Units a TDHE Continues to Own or  
  Operate in the Appropriation Year	

 
 Prior to the 2008 Reauthorization Act, NAHASDA required that all annual Housing 

Plans submitted by TDHEs provide "a description of the manner in which the recipient will 

protect and maintain the viability of housing owned and operated by the recipient…" and "a 

certification that the recipient will maintain adequate insurance for housing units that are owned 

and operated or assisted with grant amounts provided under this Act,..".  25 U.S.C. §§ 
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4112(c)(4)(D) and (c)(5)(B)(1998) (emphasis added).  The 2008 Reauthorization Act continues 

those requirements.  See 25 U.S.C. §§ 4112(b)(2)(A)(v) and (D)(ii)(2012 Supp.).  NAHASDA 

unambiguously requires TDHEs to protect, maintain and insure housing units the TDHE 

continues to own and operate and HUD cannot, by regulation, deprive TDHEs of the FCAS 

funds for those units, funds that are necessary to meet those requirements. 

Nevertheless, 24 C.F.R. §§ 1000.318(a)(1) and (2) permit HUD to exclude Mutual Help 

units from the FCAS funding formula  if HUD finds that the TDHE has not conveyed those units 

"as soon as is practicable" after they are eligible for conveyance, or if HUD finds that the TDHE 

does not "actively enforce strict compliance" of an MHOA by the homebuyer.  Putting HUD in 

control of determining when a TDHE fails to convey a home "as soon as practicable" after it 

becomes eligible as opposed to giving the TDHE the discretion to make this determination, and 

giving HUD the authority to determine when a TDHE is not actively enforcing the terms of the 

Mutual Help Agreement (i.e., evicting the homebuyer), as opposed to giving that discretion to 

the TDHE, defies the congressional policy of self-determination that is at the core of 

NAHASDA, as well as the congressional intent to give tribes more control over the 

administration of funding for their own housing programs.  See 25 U.S.C. § 4101. For this reason 

the district court in Fort Peck III invalidated HUD's actions in removing unconveyed FCAS units 

from the grant formula while they were owned and operated by the plaintiffs. Fort Peck III, 2012 

U.S. Dist. LEXIS 124049, *15-16. Moreover, denying FCAS funding for units that are still 

owned and operated deprives plaintiffs of the funding they need in order to meet their statutory 

obligation to protect, maintain and insure housing units plaintiffs continue to own and operate.  
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C. HUD's Systematic Exclusion of Units That Were Still Owned or Operated by 
Plaintiffs in the Pertinent Grant year Violated NAHASDA and 24 C.F.R. § 
1000.318 and Was Unrelated to Need. 

 
 The United States does not dispute that the funding formula laid out in NAHASDA is 

founded upon the plaintiffs’ housing need. The plaintiffs contend that HUD's practice of 

excluding dwelling units that plaintiffs still own and operate is not only inconsistent with 

NAHASDA’s underlying policies of self-determination, but they also have no basis and are not 

related to the plaintiff's need for housing, and therefore violate NAHASDA’s funding mandate.   

 The housing need mandate of the block grant formula was discussed in Keetoowah. At 

issue in Keetoowah was the Formula Area requirement of 24 C.F.R. § 1000.302--and, more 

specifically, HUD’s requirement that an Indian tribe exercise court jurisdiction over its Formula 

Area as a condition of funding.  Keetoowah, 567 F.3d at 1240-41.  The Tenth Circuit held that 

such a funding requirement was contrary to Congress' plainly expressed intent because 25 U.S.C. 

§ 4152(b) unambiguously states that the amount of IHBG funding must be based on housing 

need:  

Section 4152(b) states that "[t]he formula shall be based on factors that reflect the 
need of the Indian tribes and the Indian areas of the tribes for assistance for 
affordable housing activities." 25 U.S.C. § 4152(b) (emphasis added). This 
language explicitly and unambiguously mandates that the factors in HUD's 
allocation formula reflect--in other words, have some connection or nexus with--
the need of Indian tribes and Indian areas of the tribes. The language does not 
permit of any other reading. Moreover, though HUD argues to the contrary, there 
is no other language in the statute creating ambiguity such that we would have to 
apply deference under Chevron's step two. 

 
Keetoowah, 567 F.3d at 1241.  

 The court went on to reject HUD's argument that the third "catch all" factor in 25 

U.S.C. § 4152(b)(3) somehow gave HUD the discretion to impose the court jurisdiction 

requirement: 
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HUD claims that NAHASDA is ambiguous in that Congress enumerated several 
factors that HUD could consider in creating the allocation formula and included a 
catch-all factor arguably broad enough to permit the jurisdictional requirement of 
24 C.F.R. § 1000.302.  NAHASDA does list as one factor such "[o]ther 
objectively measurable conditions as the Secretary and the Indian tribes may 
specify." 25 U.S.C. § 4152(b)(3).  However, the existence of this catch-all factor 
does not create ambiguity in the statute, because even the "other objectively 
measurable conditions" must be related to need.  When interpreting the meaning 
of this statutory language, we "must examine the . . . language in context, not in 
isolation." United States v. Nichols, 184 F.3d 1169, 1171 (10th Cir. 1999) 
(internal quotation marks omitted).  Section 4152(b) states that the formula must 
be based on "factors that reflect the need of the Indian tribes and the Indian areas 
of the tribes for assistance for affordable housing activities, including" three 
specific factors. 25 U.S.C. § 4152(b).  Included in the list of three factors is the 
"other objectively measurable conditions" factor. See id. § 4152(b)(3).  Thus, it is 
clear from looking at the structure and language of § 4152(b) in its entirety that 
Congress did not allow for non-need-based considerations when it included 
subsection (b)(3).  Rather, subsection (b)(3) is simply one of the need-based 
factors that Congress explicitly specified; to the extent it functions as a catch-all 
factor, it is a catch-all for need-based considerations  only. 
 

Keetoowah, 567 F.3d at 1242. 
  
 The court went on to invalidate the jurisdiction requirement because there was “no 

discernible nexus between the requirement that the Indian tribes exercise court jurisdiction over 

some geographic area and the "need" of the tribes, as that term is ordinarily construed”. 

Keetoowah, 567 F.3d at 1244; accord, Fort Peck I. 435 F. Supp. 2d at 1133 (“The housing needs 

of people living on an Indian reservation are not reasonably determined by a formula that 

depends upon whether the families in homeownership units purchase the property or the FPHA 

evicts them for failure to accept ownership.”). 7   

 Under the plain funding mandate of § 4152 (b) and Keetoowah, HUD is obligated to 

apply § 1000.318 in a manner that is consistent with NAHASDA's focus on housing need.  The 

conveyance "as soon as practicable" requirement of 24 C.F.R. § 1000.318(a)(1), and the 

                                                            
7 The Tenth Circuit’s ruling in Fort Peck II did not disturb this portion of the district court’s 
decision in Fort Peck I. 
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requirement in § 1000.318(a)(2) that Plaintiffs "actively enforce strict compliance" with the 

terms of the MHOA as a condition of funding for FCAS units Plaintiffs still own and operate are 

not factors that are related to housing need within the meaning of § 4152 (b) and Keetoowah 

makes this clear.  Accordingly, this court should either strike down or disregard subsections (1) 

and (2) of § 1000.318(a).  See Thomas v. United States, No. 10-303, 2011 U.S. Claims LEXIS 

2660 *13 (Fed. Cl. Sept. 7, 2011) (disregarding a regulation that contravened a statute). 

 As described below, HUD has utilized a number of non-need based factors to exclude 

housing units from FCAS that were still owned or operated by Plaintiffs in the pertinent grant 

year, and those factors are indistinguishable from the tribal court jurisdiction factor struck down 

in Keetoowah.  Furthermore, even assuming subsections (a)(1) and (2) of § 1000.318 are valid,  

those non need based factors can and do make conveyance of a unit “impracticable,” despite 

“strict compliance” with the tenant’s lease or rental agreement, and therefore these same factors 

violate the standards of 24 C.F.R. §1000.318 itself.8        

 The Court can and should require HUD to include and fully fund dwelling units that the 

Plaintiffs continue to own and operate as either low rent or homeownership under Section 

4152(b) and under 24 C.F.R. §1000.318.  By its terms, § 4152 (b) (1) entitles Plaintiffs to FCAS 

funding for units they continue to own or operate.  For numerous lawful and good faith reasons, 

recipients such as the Plaintiffs continue to own or operate a Mutual Help home even after 

completion of the 25 year contract term.  Seven examples follow.   

                                                            
8  The 2008 amendments to § 4152(b)(1) now allow TDHEs to continue to count demolished 
FCAS units if they are replaced within one year of demolition.  See 25 U.S.C. § 4152 (b) (1) (C) 
(2009 Supp.).  There have been cases where Plaintiffs have demolished and replaced FCAS units 
but HUD has still excluded and recaptured funding for these units  under the guise of § 1000.318 
(a).  This action is unlawful as well because it is not a need based requirement under Keetoowah, 
supra. 
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 First, a tenant may be in arrears in his or her payment or other obligations at the 

time the home becomes eligible for conveyance.  The Plaintiffs generally do not convey 

dwelling units until all of the requirements of the homeownership agreement with the homebuyer 

are satisfied, including the requirement to make full payment on the amount owed on the home.  

It is the Plaintiffs' position that these homes are not eligible for conveyance until they are paid 

off.  Nevertheless, HUD has instituted a categorical rule that allows it to remove units from 

FCAS when the homebuyer still owes money on the home at the end of the contract term.  See 

NAHASDA Guidance 98-19 (September 11, 1998) (PPFUF 28; App. 8).  Such an action cannot 

survive serious scrutiny. 

HUD's Guidance 98-19 states that "because promissory notes can be issued, tenant 

accounts receivable alone is not adequate for non-conveyance."9  There is no lawful basis for 

such a rule, and this is so regardless of the fact that it is contained in a HUD Guidance.  Nowhere 

during the rulemaking process or in the Guidance itself does HUD explain how its position is 

related to the plaintiffs' need for housing. In fact, the Guidance is directly contrary to the 

Plaintiffs' obligations under their homeownership agreements because Plaintiffs could not 

convey the units until they were paid off. See Fort Peck III, 2012 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 124049, *11-

12. Moreover, in many cases the Guidance directly contradicts TDHEs’ Admissions and 

Occupancy and Collection policies.  See, e.g., Fort Peck I, 435 F. Supp 2d at 1132, n. 6 and 

accompanying text.   

                                                            
9  In any commercial transaction, the notion that a creditor can better protect its position by 
trading ownership of real property for a promissory note alone from a delinquent and possibly 
impecunious debtor is preposterous.  It is certainly not a “practicable” notion under 24 C.F.R. § 
1000.318. 
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The Guidance is not supported by § 1000.318 because the regulation requires conveyance 

as soon as practicable after the unit "becomes eligible" for conveyance and, as shown above, a 

unit is not eligible until it is paid off.  In this regard, the Guidance is directly contrary to HUD's 

own statement in the Federal Register Notice implementing the Final Rule that units must be 

conveyed as soon as practicable after they are "paid off".  63 Fed. Reg. 12334, 12343 (March 12, 

1998) (PPFUF 11; App. 6).  

Finally, the Guidance was struck down in Fort Peck III, 2012 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 124049, 

*11-12, 16, because it was both arbitrary and capricious and constituted unlawful rulemaking. 

This court should disregard it as well.  

Second, a housing authority may still be conducting federally-funded repair or 

modernization work on the house at the time it is otherwise eligible to be conveyed.  In some 

cases homebuyers have refused to accept title until modernization is complete.    In many cases 

Plaintiffs may be obligated to make these repairs because the home has aged and become 

dilapidated as a result of cheap construction, or the Plaintiffs may have been in litigation.  In a 

concurring opinion, Judge Pregerson of the Ninth Circuit pointed out the reality that Blackfeet 

Housing, and the other TDHEs in the northern plains, face in this regard: 

When HUD finally decided to extend its aid to the tribes in the 1960s, see Susan 
J. Ferrell, Indian Housing: The Fourth Decade, 7 St. Thomas L. Rev. 445, 452-53 
(1995), the chosen vehicle was the Mutual Help and Homeownership Program 
("MHHO Program"), through which homes were to be "completed at the lowest 
possible cost."  U.S. Dep't of Hous. & Urban Dev., Manual 7440.1: Interim Indian 
Housing Handbook 3-40 (1976).  In HUD's zeal to save money, it forced 
Plaintiffs' families--and probably members of countless other tribes--to decide 
between rejecting HUD funding altogether or living in homes that were cheaply 
built, homes that tribal members knew would not withstand the Montana climate 
for any period of time.  These Plaintiffs, understandably, chose to take what they 
could get.  And, as a result, Plaintiffs now live in homes infested with black mold 
and other toxins, plagued with structural disintegration, and that have caused high 
incidence of kidney failure, cancer, headaches and bloody noses in the home's 
residents.  Yet many Plaintiffs remain in MHHO housing because, in many cases, 
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"it is the only housing they can afford."  See Jessie McQuillan, Rotten Deal, 
Missoula Indep., April 6, 2006, available at http://www. 
missoulanews.com/News/News.asp?no=5625. 
 

Marceau v. Blackfeet Hous. Auth., 455 F.3d 974, 989 (9th Cir. 2006) (Pregerson, J., concurring 

specially) (opinion replaced by Marceau v. Blackfeet Hous. Auth., 540 F.3d 916 (9th Cir. 2008), 

cert. denied 129 S. Ct. 2379 (2009)).  

 Low income Indian families who become home owners or whose units become eligible 

for conveyance are in many cases still low income and in need of affordable housing assistance, 

including modernization and rehabilitation of their old units.  Yet HUD insists that these units, 

once eligible for conveyance after the expiration of the contract term, may not be counted for 

formula purposes, under the guise of §1000.318(a).  Further, most Plaintiffs' Policies allow 

dwelling units that have been conveyed or are eligible for conveyance to be modernized and 

remodeled using NAHASDA funds.  Indeed, homeownership units are in need of such assistance 

even after they have become conveyance eligible, because in many cases they have broken-down 

due to the homebuyers' inability to afford repair and maintenance costs.   

 Third, in many cases, Plaintiffs may have demolished and replaced rental and 

MHOA units due to construction defects or because replacement was cheaper than 

remodeling the unit.  HUD policy prior to the 2008 amendments excluded demolished low rent 

and Mutual Help units unless some part of the original structure, like a wall, remained intact.  

The 2008 amendments to § 4152(b)(1) removed this requirement and rightly so.  There is no 

reasonable basis for such a requirement, and such a requirement does not survive scrutiny under 

Keetoowah because it is not related to Plaintiffs' housing need.  

 Fourth, homeownership units may have been converted to low-rent housing, in 

which case they continue to be owned and operated by the TDHE, and therefore continue 
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to be eligible under both the pre and post amendment versions of NAHASDA.  As noted in 

Fort Peck I, some homebuyers are behind in their payments at the expiration of the 25 year term, 

and others are simply not ready for homeownership when the unit becomes eligible for 

conveyance, in which case the unit may be converted to low rent and continue to be owned and 

operated by the FPHA.  435 F. Supp.2d at 1132-33.10  Yet HUD insists that these units may not 

be counted as low rent units (with a higher funding amount) for formula purposes under 

Guidance Nos. 98-12 & 98-19, even though they are actually operated as low rent units (at a 

higher cost) after they are converted.  Again, HUD's practice of reducing and recapturing funding 

for plaintiffs failure to classify converted low rent units as Mutual Help, something they are not, 

is not a need based factor under § 4152 (b) and Keetoowah and must therefore be struck down.  

Furthermore, HUD’s policy fails to even comply with its own standards in 24 C.F.R. § 1000.318 

(b), which requires low rent units to be classified as such without exception. 

 Fifth, a new tenant may occupy a Mutual Help unit during the pendency of the 

initial contract term, in which case the TDHE has the right to establish a new purchase 

price and a new contract term.  HUD may not, consistent with Keetoowah or 24 C.F.R. § 

1000.318, exclude units with subsequent homebuyers, because such an action is not related to 

housing need. Moreover, the principles of self-determination which underlie NAHASDA were 

intended to allow TDHEs to make their own determination as to when homeownership units that 

became occupied by new tenants prior to the expiration of the original amortization period 

should be conveyed. The plaintiffs should not be made to suffer a loss of funding as a result of 

decisions that NAHASDA expressly gave authority to plaintiffs to make. See Fort Peck I, 435 F. 

Supp. 2d at 1134-35; see also Fort Peck III, 2012 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 124049, *14 

                                                            
10  These findings were neither discussed nor disturbed in Fort Peck II.  
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 Sixth, if a proposed conveyance is located on Indian trust lands, it is subject to 

Bureau of Indian Affairs ("BIA") approval which may have been withheld.  In many cases 

title impediments have delayed the ability of TDHEs to convey homeownership units. 2008 

amendments now recognize expressly that a title impediment is a legitimate justification for non-

conveyance. 25 U.S.C. § 4152 (b) (1) (B) and (D) (2012 Supp). This was the case in Nambe 

Pueblo Hous. Entity v. United States HUD, 2012 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 125025, *18-19 (D. Colo. 

Sept. 4, 2012). The denial of FCAS funding because a TDHEs faces a legal impediment to 

conveying a homeownership unit bears no legitimate relationship to the TDHEs housing need. 

Seventh, clouds on title due to probate or intestacy may exist that preclude or delay 

conveyance. Again, the 2008 amendments to § 4152 (b) (1) allow leeway in such cases. Even 

before the amendment, the removal of funding for FCAS units despite this legal impediment to 

conveyance bears no legitimate relationship to a TDHEs housing need. 

 The seven examples cited above are all cases where the Plaintiffs should be entitled to 

continued FCAS funding despite Guidances 98-12 and 98-19.  The court should hold HUD's 

actions to the contrary unlawful. 

D. HUD's Application of 24 C.F.R. § 1000.318 (a) (1) and (2) is Unlawful 
Because the Standards Imposed Lack Ascertainable Certainty and are so 
Vague as to Defy Reasonable and Consistent Enforcement, and Because the 
Rules Imposed by HUD Guidances Violate Tribal Self-Determination.	

 
 Sections 1000.318(a)(1) and (2) permit HUD to exclude Mutual Help units for grant 

purposes if it finds that the TDHE has not conveyed those units "as soon as is practicable" after 

they are eligible for conveyance, and if HUD finds that the TDHE does not "actively enforce 

strict compliance" of an MHOA by the homebuyer.  These subsections defy any consistent or 
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fair standard, and invite ad hoc decision-making on HUD's part as to at what point a particular 

dwelling unit must be dropped from the TDHE's FCAS.  This is inconsistent with NAHASDA.   

An Agency rule must provide clear and unambiguous standards that put TDHEs on notice 

that their funding will be reduced at a certain point in time.  See eg. Reich v. Kelly-Springfield 

Tire Co., 13 F.3d 1160, 1165 (7th Cir. 1994); Diamond Roofing Co. v. OSHA, 528 F.2d 645, 649 

(5th Cir. 1976) (an Agency "has the responsibility to state with ascertainable certainty what is 

meant by the standards [it] promulgates."); accord, Christopher v. SmithKline Beecham Corp., 

__U.S. __, 132 S. Ct. 2156, 2167 n. 15 and accompanying text (U.S. 2012).  Subsections (a)(1) 

and (2) fall far short of this requirement.  In fact, the language in subsection (1) requiring that a 

dwelling unit be conveyed "as soon as practicable" is so vague as to defy any fair standard for 

consistent interpretation.  C.f., Hodges v. Public Bldg. Comm'n, 1994 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 18419, 

48-49 (D. Ill. 1994) (discussing the vagueness of the phrase "as soon as practicable" in a contract 

that rendered the provision at issue too indefinite and uncertain to form grounds for liability to 

support an action for breach of contract).   

The same is true with respect to § 1000.318(a) (2) to the extent that it requires TDHEs to 

"actively enforce strict compliance by the homebuyer with the terms and conditions of the 

MHOA, including the requirements for full and timely payment."  There is no way for a TDHE 

to determine at what point it is not enforcing strict compliance with an MHOA.  Such a standard 

is unreasonable because it does not provide "a fair and reasonable warning" of what is 

prohibited.  See Georgia Pacific Court v. OSHRC, 25 F.3d 999, 1003-04 (11th Cir. 1994).  

Moreover, the standard is unreasonable because it fails to give fair notice of the penalty imposed 

(in this case, a loss or reduction of funding) if a party fails to comply:   

In the context of agency proceedings, an agency "may fail to give sufficient fair 
notice to justify a penalty if the regulation [at issue] is so ambiguous that a 
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regulated party cannot be expected to arrive at the correct interpretation using 
standard tools of legal interpretation, must therefore look to the agency for 
guidance, and the agency failed to articulate its interpretation before imposing a 
penalty". 
 

Excel Corp. v. U.S. Dept. of Agriculture, 397 F.3d 1285, 1297 (10th Cir. 2005) (quoting United 

States v. Lachman, 387 F.3d 42, 57 (1st Cir. 2004)).  

 It is notable that even HUD was in the dark as to how to enforce the vague standards in § 

1000.318(a) until the OIG audit.  Given the vagueness and ambiguity of § 1000.318(a)(1) and 

(2), it is not surprising that the Inspector General found that so many TDHEs were not in 

compliance with the regulation.  Nor is it surprising that HUD has to deal on an annual basis 

with so many challenges and corrections as a result of TDHEs having Mutual Help units that are, 

in HUD's view but not the TDHEs, eligible for conveyance. 

CONCLUSION 
 

 Based upon the foregoing argument, the Court is respectfully requested to grant the 

Plaintiffs’ Motion for Partial Summary Judgment and to rule that 24 C.F.R. § 1000.318 violated 

NAHASDA’s funding mandate prior to its amendment in 2008 to the extent that it allowed HUD 

to reduce and recapture FCAS funding on homes owned or operated pursuant to an ACC by 

Plaintiffs on September 30, 1997 for fiscal years 2002 through 2008.  Alternatively, Plaintiffs 

respectfully request the Court to rule that HUD’s reduction and recapturing of FCAS funds for 

units that the Plaintiffs continued to own and operate during fiscal years 2002 through 2008, 

including units that were demolished and replaced and converted low rent units that were not 

fully funded, violated NAHASDA’s funding mandate.  The Court is further requested to 

schedule a trial to determine damages.   
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 RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED this 25th day of March, 2013.  

 
   s/ John Fredericks III     
   John Fredericks III 
   FREDERICKS PEEBLES & MORGAN, LLP 
   3730 29th Avenue 
   Mandan, North Dakota 58554 
   (303) 673-9600 (phone) 
   (701) 663-5103 (fax)  
   jfredericks@ndnlaw.com 
    
   Attorney for Plaintiffs  
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